## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CR-0003-NS-C

2008-KA.531-LOA

KENDALL WAYNE PILGRIM

VS.

**FILED** 

DEC 17 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Appeal from Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

Edmund J. Phillips, Jr.
Attorney at Law
P. O. Box 178
Newton, MS 39345
Telephone 601-683-3387
Facsimile 601-683-3110
MS Bar No.
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Oral Argument IS requested

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSON**

#### KENDALL WAYNE PILGRIM

v.

### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CR-0003-NS-C

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Court erred in denying Appellant's motion for continuance.
- 2. The Court erred in refusing proposed jury instruction D-6.
- 3. The Court erred in overruling Appellant's hearsay objection to testimony of Will Peterson.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kendall Wayne Pilgrim appeals his conviction from the Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi, of unlawfully and feloniously having in his possession and under his conscious control a Schedule II controlled substance, namely methamphetamine, in an amount of at least .10 grams but less than 2 grams, in Neshoba County, Mississippi, contrary to and in violation of Section 41.29-139(c)(1)(A), Miss. Code Ann. (1972), and sentenced as a second offender, he having previously been convicted of a felony crime of Possession of Methamphetamine, to serve a term of sixteen (16) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Mississippi Highway Patrolman Harbert Johnson testified that he and two other patrolmen were conducting a roadblock at an intersection when Appellant approached in a van, that he saw something black come from the driver's side window of the van, that he secured Appellant and drove to the point where he saw the black object come out of the window and found what he believed to be contraband narcotics on the ground.

Other witnesses testified as to the chain of custody of the narcotics and the identification of the drug as a small amount of methamphetamine.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

- 1. A court should grant a continuance to prevent denial of a fair trial.
- 2. An accused is entitled to a jury instruction which gives his theory of the case.
- 3. A witness, in broaching a subject, does not "open the door" to hearsay testimony on that subject.

# **ARGUMENT**

I.

# THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE

On the day set for trial, Appellant's counsel asked the Court for a continuance. A conference on the motion was held prior to jury selection, out of the presence of the jury venire (T-44 et seq.):

MR. COLLINS: Your Honor, early in the week last week, it was my understanding that Mr. Pilgrim had retained Mitch Moran to represent him in the case that is now before the Court, and I began to try to reach Mr. Moran to verify that. I was unsuccessful. Some others, apparently, were successful in reaching him.

But when I arrived at Court this morning, I believed him to be the defense lawyer for Kendall Wayne Pilgrim.

Your Honor, I am here in the posture as an appointee public defender, and if the Court, which it apparently already has ruled we're going forward, I'm going to defend Mr. Pilgrim to the best of my ability. But, Your Honor, we have not conferred in a meaningful way that I normally would have with somebody that I thought I was going to trial with this morning.

I do have one other issue that I consider to be salient I need to bring up. And when I read the discovery this morning prior to trial, I noticed that there was some evidence submitted and some results requested from the Crime Lab that were, to my reading of the discovery during the voir dire process, I didn't see any results on fingerprint analysis request.

Your Honor, that would be an objection we would have in going forward to trial. That we have not been furnished discovery on that particular forensic request.

------

Mr. Brooks: Your Honor, first, I'd like to point out that on Wednesday, March 5<sup>th</sup>, Your Honor's plea and motion day, when the criminal docket was called, Mr. Collins, on behalf of the public defender's office, announced that this case would be for trial.

So he didn't announce that Mitch Moran represented the Defendant or anything, he just announced this case would be for trial, and it was then set for today. As to the request for discovery, Your Honor, I just this morning myself learned that the plastic bags were submitted that contained the alleged methamphetamine were submitted for fingerprints. I just got a glimpse of the report myself. I will show it to - - have the officer show it to him. And never furnished it to our office, but it was basically no latent prints of value.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. BROOKS: If you want to show -- to see that -- Will Peterson has it. Chris.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Collins, any further response? And then I'll rule.

MR. COLLINS: Yes, sir. I've got a client that apparently has the resources to privately retain a lawyer and while, obviously, we haven't had a chance to discuss it, it may be his desire to retain his own expert on the issue of fingerprints also. I don't know, but, Your Honor, he would be prejudiced to not having the opportunity to pursue that.

#### The Court denied the motion (T-49-51):

The Court has had some information about employment of other counsel and that's rally of no consequence now, I believe. The jury is out there. They've been brought here for trial, and Mr. Collins, I understand your situation and Ms. Branning, but I believe that on putting this on all fours, that nobody has been prejudiced as far as announcement. So the case will go forward.

As far as the discovery, any violations, it's really academic's of no moment. Mr. Brooks said that no prints, not latent prints were lifted.

As whether there be a violation, I'll certainly give you opportunity this morning to confer with those officials and glean whatever information you thought would be probative.

MR. COLLINS: Well, Your Honor, I didn't know - - is there - - is the Crime Lab person here that conducted the examination? They're not subpoenaed, are they?

THE COURT: What about it, Mr. Brooks?

MR. BROOKS: No, like I say, we wasn't aware of them until this morning ourselves.

THE COURT: Okay. So I'll let you state any further objection, but with that announcement, I don't see that there's any prejudice. I'll let you make any further motion right now that you wish.

MR. COLLINS: Thank you, Judge. I'm not a fingerprint expert at all. But in the event that Mr. Pilgrim hired an expert and that expert found fingerprints, we might find out who this, who this bag really belonged to.

THE COURT: All right. The question would be whether there's anything that would be exculpatory. So if someone wants to tell me that there might be something there. The State have anything that would show any exculpatory evidence?

MR. BROOKS: No, Your Honor. I would like to respond to two things. Number one, if the Defendant had been doing his job, which was getting his attorney, then what he's claiming prejudiced about today would not have happened.

I did call last week, on Friday, after Mr. Collins had mentioned to me that Mitch Moran may be representing him. I called last Friday. Mitch says as of last Friday, he was not representing him. I said, Mitch, will you call me if you are hired over the weekend. He did not call me.

I called him yesterday, before we announced to the Court that we were going to trial today, and Mitch Moran says he does not positively represent him. That was the worst - - last word I had on that.

I called Mr. Collins. I left a message on his answering service saying that Mitch had said he didn't represent him.

So that's why we were ready to go today, Your Honor, and we don't believe there's any prejudice whatsoever to the Defendant. If there is any, it's all his own fault.

THE COURT: Okay. And likewise the Court under girded this information that Mr. Mitch Moran might be presenting the Defendant by my calling him yesterday and not getting him, but talking to his wife, and just telling her that if he represented him that the case would be going forward today, and to let me know. And I heard no further information from him. Okay, anything further from the Defendant?

The trial consisted of testimony by four prosecution witnesses. The defense offered no evidence.

Appellant requested a continuance for two reasons - - (1) his counsel was unprepared for trial because he reasonably believed that appellant had employed private counsel: and, (2) a discovery violation by the prosecution.

A request for a continuance may be grounded on the idea that it's required to provide an accused a fair and impartial trial. In such a circumstance the failure to grant the request is reverse error. Martin v. State, 312 So. 2d. 5 (Miss. 1975); Barnes v. State, 249 So. 2d 383, 385 (Miss. 1971); Coker v. State, 82 Fla. 5, 89 So. 222 (1921). The Mississippi cases cited above hold that Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution entitles an accused to a fair and impartial trial and that this entitlement includes a reasonably well prepared defense attorney.

In the case before the Court, the defense counsel had been appointed in forma pauperis by the trial court because the Appellant was indigent and could not afford to employ counsel to defend him. That attorney declared to the court that he had not prepared for trial and had not even conferred with Appellant in a meaningful way about the case (T-45), because he believed that Appellant had employed private counsel. That this belief was not falsely asserted is shown by the fact that the trial court and the prosecutor had likewise been so informed.

The right to counsel of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution includes the right to confer and consult with counsel; Avery v. Alabama, 308 U.S. 444, 60 S. Ct. 321 (1940); and the opportunity for counsel to prepare for the matter in controversy. Lankford v. Idaho, 500 U.S. 110, 114, 111 S. Ct. 1723 (1991); Hintz v. Beto, 379 F. 2d. 937 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. Tex. 1967).

In the case before the Court, the trial court elected to put Appellant to trial with unprepared trial counsel. If the court believed the trial counsel to be dilatory or lackadaisical in preparation, the Court had the option of imposing sanctions on the counsel. The effect of this choice was to deny Appellant a fair trial.

The discovery violation was the State providing Appellant on the morning of trial the results of forensic discovery request. In addition the information then provided did not include the result of the requested fingerprint analysis on the bags containing the contraband (T045). The prosecutor responded that he had only that morning learned that the bags had been submitted for fingerprint analysis T-46, that the results had apparently been in the hands of law enforcement authorities but not furnished to the prosecutor's office, that the result of the fingerprint analysis request was (T-47) "basically" that there were "no latent prints of value."

This was inadequate. It did disclose only that Appellant's prints were not on the bag, but did not disclose whether other persons' prints were on it, and if so whether they had been submitted to various fingerprint databases for identification. The timing of the

disclosure (during the motion argument) prevented Appellant from inquiring of the reporting scientist or technician about these matters and from issuing a subpoena to him for the trial.

Appellant was entitled to this information prior to trial, and failure to grant the motion for continuance was error. Box v. State, 437 So. 2d 19 (Miss. 1983).

For both reasons, the denial of a continuance was error and the verdict should be overturned.

П.

# THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION D-6

The trial court refused jury instruction D-6, which read as follows:

The Defendant is charged by indictment with the crime of possession of methamphetamine. To constitute a possession, there must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding beyond a reasonable doubt, and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence, that a defendant was aware of the presence and character of the methamphetamine, and was intentionally and consciously in possession of same. Where the particular chemicals are not in the actual physical possession of a defendant, there must be sufficient facts to establish beyond a reasonable doubt, and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence, that the particular substance involved was subject to the defendant's dominion or control.

This instruction is not duplicative of other instructions and is supported by the evidence. A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction which gives his or her theory of the case. Young v. State, 451 So. 2d 208 (Miss. 1984); De Silva v. State, 91 Miss. 776, 45 So. 611 (1908). Indeed, where there is serious doubt whether a requested jury instruction

should be given, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the accused. Lenard v. State, 552 So. 2d. 93 (Miss. 1989); Wadford v. State, 385 So. 2d 951, 955 (Miss. 1980).

Refusal to grant such instructions is reversible error. The verdict in the case before the Court should be overturned

#### III.

# THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S HEARSAY OBJECTION TO TESTIMONY OF WILL PETERSON

Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics agent Will Peterson, chain of custody witness for the State, testified on cross-examination and then on redirect examination as follows (T-95):

- Q. In this instant, when you took possession of the exhibit from Trooper Johnson, did you put on latex gloves before you handled it?
- A. I did.
- Q. And the reason you did that is because when you submitted this evidence for analysis, you requested both drug analysis and also fingerprint analysis?

A. That's correct.

MR. COLLINS: No further questions.

THE COURT: Redirect?

### REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BROOKS:

Q. Agent Petterson, what was the result of that fingerprint request?

A. The Crime Lab did not find any - - -

MR. COLLINS: Your Honor, I object to hearsay testimony here.

MR. BROOKS: Your Honor, he opened the --

THE COURT: I'll overrule the objection.

After further argument outside the presence of the jury (T-98):

Judge, talk about highly prejudicial, it would be highly prejudicial to allow someone who has not been demonstrated as an expert, to offer hearsay testimony.

the trial court reiterated the overruling of the objection (T-98):

When you open the door, there's an invitation that it's something like you're not inviting to go across the threshold. And I think Mr. Brooks is correct, as far as the door being opened about the existence of fingerprints and what was done on the scene with the latex gloves.

The Court's ruling was error because one cannot open a door to hearsay testimony. Murphy v. State, 453 So. 2d 1290 (Miss. 1984).

The verdict should be overturned.

### **CONCLUSION**

The verdict must be overturned.