IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KENDALL WAYNE PILGRIM

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0531

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Denial of a Continuance.

1.3

This Court has repeatedly said that trial judges have vested in them broad discretionary powers in granting or refusing to grant a continuance. The decision to grant or deny a motion for a continuance will not be grounds for reversal unless it is shown to have resulted in "manifest injustice."

No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here.

II. Denial of Jury Instruction D-6.

The denial of D-6 was not error because much of the State's evidence was direct evidence. Accordingly, a circumstantial evidence instruction was not required.

In addition, D-6, a jury instruction defining the concept of constructive possession, was cumulative with S-3 defining the same concept.

III. Admission of Hearsay Testimony.

The admission of the testimony criticized here, even if error, was admissible by the doctrine of invited error.

There should be no reversal for invited error.

The testimony was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the crime laboratory's report.

Rather, it was offered to rebut any notion the State had been slipshod in its investigation.

In any event, given the nature of the criticized testimony, *viz.*, no latent prints of value found on the glassine sandwich bag(s) containing the contraband, any error was innocuous and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

How could Pilgrim be harmed by testimony that no latent fingerprints of any value were found on the bag(s) discarded by Pilgrim?

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS BROAD JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN DENYING PILGRIM'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE.

Pilgrim states the following: "On the day set for trial, appellant's counsel asked the Court for a continuance."

(Brief for Appellant at 2)

Within the four corners of that statement lies a sound, reasonable and viable basis for our position that the denial of a continuance was not an abuse of judicial discretion.

It was a matter of "ready, set, go."

17.6 47.

A venire was present and ready. (R. 49)

The case had been previously set for trial. (R. 4)

And the prosecutor was prepared to go. (R. 4, 51)

The situation here is analogous to the situation where an accused appears on the morning of trial with a new lawyer and asks for a continuance. In such cases, "... the trial court does not abuse its discretion in denying the continuance." Byrd v. State, 522 So.2d 756, 759 (Miss. 1988).

Pilgrim's motion was requested for two reasons, viz., (1) counsel's claim he was unprepared for trial and

(2) an alleged discovery violation.

1111111

This matter was argued at great length in chambers. (R. 44-51) The end result was that no latent fingerprints of any value were found on the glassine sandwich bag containing the contraband, thus nothing exculpatory was withheld to the prejudice of Pilgrim. Judge Cotten recognized that no prejudice ensued from any alleged discovery violation because there were no latent prints of value. This dispelled any notion the methamphetamine had been handled by and belonged to another person. The prosecutor did not know until the day of trial that a fingerprint examination had even been requested. (R. 46-47)

And, the spectre of retained counsel was just that, *i.e.*, an apparition, a mere ghost of retained counsel.

According to prosecutor Brooks, Mr. Moran admitted as much the week prior to trial. (R. 50-51)

In denying the motion for a continuance, Judge Cotten stated the following:

THE COURT: Okay. And likewise the Court undergirded this information that Mr. Mitch Moran might be representing the Defendant by my calling him yesterday and not getting him, but talking to his wife, and just telling her that if he represented him that the case would be going forward today, and to let me know. And I heard no further information from him. Okay, anything further from the Defendant?

MR. COLLINS: No, Your Honor. (R. 51)

The record dispels any notion that Mr. Collins was unprepared for the trial of his client. The record certainly does not reflect a lack of familiarity with the facts of the case which were neither complex nor difficult. Counsel on several occasions referred to Pilgrim as "my client" and consulted with him during the trial. (R. 36, 42, 114-15) He conducted an adequate voir dire (R. 36-43) after examining the juror questionnaires. (R. 37) Any tangible discovery that counsel claimed he had not received was in the form of a laboratory report reflecting that no latent fingerprints of any value were found on the glassine bag(s) containing the methamphetamine.

Pilgrim himself was questioned by the judge and stated he was satisfied with the services of Mr. Collins.

Pilgrim had no complaints against Collins and felt that Collins had done a good job for him. (R. 120) This certainly detracts from the idea that Mr. Collins was ill-prepared for trial.

A Barbara A Barbara

Trial was conducted on March 18th. As early as March 5th, Mr. Collins, on behalf of the public defender's office, had announced the case would be for trial. (R. 46) Nothing was said at this time about Mitch Moran as retained counsel.

Mr. Brooks, the prosecutor, also stated into the record he called Moran the previous day - March 17th - and was informed by Moran that Moran was not positively representing Pilgrim. Mr. Brooks then telephoned defense counsel Collins and left a message on his answering machine to this effect. (R. 51)

Judge Cotten stated into the record that he also had contacted Mr. Moran the previous day and talked with Moran's wife. The message left with Mrs. Moran was that the case was going forward the next day and to let the court know if her husband was representing Mr. Pilgrim. "And I heard no further information from him." (R. 51)

Counsel's knowledge of the facts, his cross-examination of the State's witnesses, and his motions and objections reflect great skill and expertise in attempting to raise a reasonable doubt of guilt.

Counsel for Pilgrim has not stated how Pilgrim's defense would have been any different had he had additional time to investigate the offense. Pilgrim really had no defense and was caught red-handedly tossing the dope out the window of his motor vehicle. No prejudice to Pilgrim has been alleged or demonstrated.

Regrettably, there is nothing in the present record demonstrating that Judge Cotten abused his broad discretionary powers in failing to grant a continuance. Stated differently, there is nothing in this record demonstrating the denial of a last minute continuance resulted in a "manifest injustice."

This Court has repeatedly said that trial judges have vested in them broad discretionary powers in granting or refusing to grant a continuance. **Payton v. State**, 897 So.2d 921 (Miss. 2003) citing Rule 9.04, Uniform Circuit

and County Court Rules; Smiley v. State, 815 So.2d 1140 (Miss. 2002), reh denied; Richardson v. State, 722 So.2d 481 (Miss. 1998); Wilson v. State, 716 So.2d 1096 (Miss. 1998), citing Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-15-29; Greene v. State, 406 So.2d 805 (Miss. 1981), citing section 99-15-29, Mississippi Code 1972 Annotated (1973); Clay v. State, 829 So.2d 676 (Ct. App. Miss. 2002), reh denied, cert denied 829 So.2d 1245; Gilbert v. State, 934 So.2d 330 (Ct. App. Miss. 2006), reh denied; McFadden v. State, 929 So.2d 365 (Ct. App. Miss. 2006), reh denied.

Unless the trial court abuses its discretion to the prejudice of the defendant, its action will not be held error.

See Carter v. State, 473 So.2d 471 (Miss. 1985); Greene v. State, supra; Woods v. State, 393 So.2d 1319

(Miss. 1981); Norman v. State, 385 So.2d 1298 (Miss. 1980).

The decision to grant or to deny a motion for a continuance will not be grounds for reversal unless it is shown to have resulted in "manifest injustice." **Boone v. State**, 973 So.2d 237 (Miss. 2008); **Coleman v. State**, 697 So.2d 777 (Miss. 1997); **Atterberry v. State**, 667 So.2d 622 (Miss. 1995); **Lambert v. State**, 654 So.2d 17 (Miss. 1995), appeal after remand 724 So.2d 392; **Johnson v. State**, 631 So.2d 185 (Miss. 1994); **McGee v. State**, 828 So.2d 847 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002); **Peters v. State**, 920 So.2d 1050 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006).

One of this Court's many expressions on the subject matter is found in **Jackson v. State**, 538 So.2d 1186, 1188-89 (Miss. 1989), where we find the following:

The standards our courts employ when one criminally accused requests a continuance may be found in Miss.Code Ann. Section 99-15-29 (1972). [footnote omitted] The granting or denial of a continuance rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge. [citations omitted]

Our dispositive inquiry is whether denial of Jackson's motion for a continuance resulted in substantial prejudice to his right to a fair opportunity to prepare and present his defense. Indeed, the last line of Section 99-15-29 reads

[D]enial of continuance shall not be grounds for reversal unless the

Supreme Court shall be satisfied that injustice resulted therefrom.

In **Hill v. State,** No. 2006-KA-01966-COA (¶25) decided January 13, 2009 [Not Yet Reported], we find the following language applicable here:

Regardless, the decision to grant or deny a motion for continuance will not be grounds for reversal unless it is shown to have resulted in an injustice. Miss.Code Ann. §99-15-29 (Rev. 2007); *Coleman v. State*, 697 So.2d 777, 780 (miss. 1997). Hill has not shown that an injustice resulted from the denial fo the continuance.

Pilgrim, much like Hill, has failed to demonstrate that an "injustice" resulted from the denial of a last minute continuance the day trial was to begin.

II.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN DENYING JURY INSTRUCTION D-6 WHICH PLACED A GREATER BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE STATE THAN THAT REQUIRED UNDER THE FACTS OF THE CASE. MOREOVER, D-6 SAID THE SAME THING AS S-3.

D-6, an instruction defining the concept of constructive possession, was refused because a jury instruction requiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt *and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis* was not required in this case.

Moreover, save for the circumstantial evidence portion, D-6 was cumulative with S-3.

In denying D-6 the trial judge stated the following:

THE COURT: The testimony was that Officer Johnson was there at the road block and he saw the car, did he say something like 35 or 40 yards up the road when he saw the bag, the black bag, come out of the driver's side on the pavement there and he said essentially it was never outside of his presence, visibility, got in his vehicle, could have walked, but he got in there and drove right to it, so there appears to be nothing as far as conjecture about circumstances, so it looks to me to be -- to satisfy all the elements aspects of direct evidence, so I

will give it with the - - redacting or excluding the aspects about the every reasonable hypothesis, which we have a circumstantial evidence case. (R. 116)

Defense counsel did not agree with the modification suggested by the Court, therefore, the judge refused D-6 in its entirety. (R. 116-17)

S-3 reads as follows:

Land Comment

The Court instructs the Jury that to constitute a possession, there must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that the Defendant was aware of the presence and character of the particular substance and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it. It need not be in actual physical possession; constructive possession may be shown by establishing that the substance involved was subject to the Defendant's dominion or control. (R. 122; C.P. at 14)

Obviously, S-3, which was given, says the same thing as D-6, which was refused.

At best, the evidence in this case was a mixed blend of direct and circumstantial evidence. In this posture, it was not necessary for the jury, as finder of fact, to exclude every reasonable hypothesis consistent with Pilgrim's innocence. Rather, it was only necessary for the jury to find the State proved each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

"The well-established rule of this Court is that when the collection of admitted evidence is either direct evidence, or a combination of both direct and circumstantial evidence, circumstantial evidence jury instructions are not necessary." Sullivan v. State, 749 So.2d 983, 992 (Miss. 1999). See also Bennett v. State, 933 So.2d 930 (Miss. 2006), reh denied [Circumstantial evidence cases for which a circumstantial evidence instruction is required lack direct evidence.]

In addition to this, D-6, in its pertinent parts, was cumulative with S-3 which also defined the concept of constructive possession.

Where other instructions have both fully and fairly informed the jury, reversal is not warranted on appeal for

an error in the denial of other instructions. **Gaston v. State**, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002). A trial judge is under no obligation to grant redundant instructions. **Montana v. State**, 822 So.2d 954 (Miss. 2002).

It is elementary that "[j]ury instructions are not to be read unto themselves, but with the jury charge as a whole." **Kolberg v. State,** 829 So.2d 29, 45 (Miss. 2002), reh denied. Stated differently,

"[j]ury instructions 'are to be taken collectively rather than be given individual consideration. So long as all the instructions read together adequately and properly instruct the jury on the issues, an individual instruction given to the jury will not constitute reversible error.' "Coleman v. State, 804 So.2d 1032, 1037 (Miss. 2002) (quoting Detroit Marine Eng'g v. McRee, 510 So.2d 462, 467-68 (Miss. 1987). Where other instructions have both fairly and fully informed the jury, reversal is not warranted on appeal for an error in the instruction. Id. at 1038. [Caston v. State, supra, 823 So.2d at 506.]

See also **Bell v. State**, 725 So.2d 836, 849 (¶29) (Miss. 1998) ["The trial judge is under no obligation to grant redundant instructions."]

In short, the denial of D-6 was not error because jury instruction S-3 said the same thing.

While a defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given that present his theory of the case, this entitlement is limited in that the trial court may refuse an instruction that incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. Ford v. State, 975 So.2d 859 (Miss. 2008). See also Lamar v. State, 983 So.2d 364 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008) [In reviewing the denial of a jury instruction, an appellate court must consider not only the denied instructions but also all of the instructions that were given to ascertain whether or not error lies in the refusal to give the requested instruction.]

No error ensued in the denial of D-6.

Cry Control

III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR, IF ERROR AT ALL, IN OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S HEARSAY OBJECTION.

Pilgrim claims the trial judge improperly overruled his objection to hearsay testimony during the State's redirect examination of Agent Will Peterson.

During cross examination of Peterson by defense counsel, the following colloquy took place:

- Q. Agent Peterson, the assistance you talked about giving to other agencies, is that assistance in processing what's alleged drug evidence?
 - A. That's correct.
- Q. In this instant, when you took possession of the exhibit from Trooper Johnson, did you put on latex gloves before you handled it?
 - A. I did.

- Q. And the reason you did that is because when you submitted this evidence for analysis, you requested both drug analysis and also fingerprint analysis?
 - A. That's correct.
 - Q. And you submitted a known fingerprint card of the accused?
 - A. That's correct.

MR. COLLINS: No further questions.

THE COURT: Redirect?

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BROOKS:

- Q. Agent Peterson, what was the result of that fingerprint request?
- A. The Crime Lab did not find any --

MR. COLLINS: Your Honor, I object to hearsay testimony here.

MR. BROOKS: Your Honor, he opened the - -

THE COURT: I'll overrule the objection.

MR. COLLINS: Your Honor, may I further make my objection. (R. 94-95)

Following argument conducted in chambers, defense counsel stated he had made his objection because "... frankly I knew they [the State] didn't have an expert here. That's why I objected." (R. 100)

In the end, the trial judge overruled the defendant's contemporaneous objection as well as his subsequent motion for a mistrial and allowed full bore cross-examination of the witness. (R. 100-01)

During re-examination by the State, the following allegedly objectionable testimony took place:

THE COURT: We're back in the presence of the jury. Proceed.

(By Mr. Brooks) Agent Peterson, before Mr. Collins' objection, I asked you what was the result of the fingerprint examination that you submitted to the Crime Lab?

A. [By Peterson:] According to their report, there was no prints of value found on the baggies, on the submission. (R. 101)

Agent Peterson was testifying about a crime laboratory report reflecting there were no latent prints of value on the glassine baggie(s). (R. 101) The State argued that admission of testimony attesting to the fact there were no prints of value did not result in any prejudice to the defendant and was admissible because Pilgrim "opened the door." (R. 97)

The trial judge agreed. (R. 98-99)

Pilgrim, citing **Murphy v. State**, 453 So.2d 1290 (Miss. 1984), claims on appeal the defense cannot open the door to hearsay. (Brief for Appellant at 8-9)

The **Murphy** case may be decent authority for the proposition one cannot open the door to hearsay. Where, however, is the authority in support of the proposition that the content of the laboratory report as testified about in this case by Peterson was inadmissible hearsay? It seems to us this testimony was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the report but to refute and dispel any notion that the state had been slipshod in their investigation. It was introduced to demonstrate there were tests conducted and results reached.

Leve Comment

We submit the State was entitled to ask about the results of the fingerprint analysis after the defendant on cross-examination brought out the fact a known fingerprint of the defendant was submitted for analysis. This is especially true, where, as here, counsel knew the State has not subpoenaed an expert. If error, it was "invited error" which cannot be grounds for a reversal of Pilgrim's conviction. *Cf.* Singleton v. State, 518 So.2d 653, 655 (Miss. 1988) ["A defendant cannot complain on appeal of alleged errors invited or induced by himself."]

Obviously, once the State rested its case without introducing the results of the fingerprint comparison of Pilgrim's known fingerprint with any fingerprints found on the contraband, a reasonable and fairminded juror would have concluded the defendant's prints were not found on the exhibit else the State would have produced a witness to say so. Peterson's testimony on re-direct simply made this unknown a known fact.

There was no harm, no foul, and certainly no prejudice to Pilgrim.

Moreover, without Peterson's testimony reflecting there were no latent prints of value, the jury would have been left to speculate with respect to whether the fingerprints of others, i.e., exculpatory evidence, were found on the contraband. The jury would be left wondering why the State chose to not come clean with the whole story.

In any event, whether hearsay or not, it is clear any error in admitting same was innocuous and the testimony harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This is a classic case for application of the harmless error doctrine because the allegedly objectionable testimony was favorable to the defendant, *viz.*, no latent prints of any value.

How in the world was that testimony harmful to Pilgrim?

Finally "[w]hether to declare a mistrial is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court."

Johnson v. State, 666 So.2d 784, 794 (Miss. 1995), citing Brent v. State, 632 So.2d 936, 941 (Miss. 1994). See also Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996); Horne v. State, 487 So.2d 213, 215-15 (Miss. 1986). "The failure of the court to grant a motion for mistrial will not be overturned on appeal unless the trial court abused its [judicial] discretion." Bass v. State, 597 So.2d 182, 191 (Miss. 1992); Hampton v. State, 910 So.2d 651 (¶9) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005).

See also Wright v. State, 958 So.2d 158 (Miss. 2007), reh denied [Whether to declare a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge].

We respectfully submit the overruling of Pilgrim's objection resulted in no harm, no foul, and no prejudice to Pilgrim and that the trial judge did not abuse his judicial discretion in overruling Pilgrim's motion for a mistrial.

CONCLUSION

Appellee respectfully submits no reversible error took place during the trial of this cause.

Accordingly, the judgment of conviction and sixteen (16) year sentence imposed by the trial court should be forthwith affirmed.